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HELLO, AND GOOD LUCK



“What’s a blunder?”


When I told people...cab drivers, deliverymen, the produce guy at the grocery store ...I was writing a book about baseball blunders, that was always what they wanted to know. What’s a blunder?


Here’s what a blunder isn’t: a blunder isn’t a physical mistake or an error of judgment in the heat of the moment. In other words, in my book (in this book) it’s only a blunder if there was premeditation. Bill Buckner did not blunder when he let that ball squirt between his legs; John McNamara did blunder when he let Bill Buckner let that ball squirt between his legs.


So that’s one requirement: the blunder must be premeditated. Somebody has to have thought, “Hey, this would be a good idea.”


Another requirement: a reasonable person might, at the time, have made a reasonable case for doing something else. It’s impossible to avoid the temptation of hindsight, and I’m not going to ignore a player’s on-base percentage simply because his manager had never heard of on-base percentage. But I’ll be as fair as I can be.


And thirdly—or rather, ideally, because some of the blunders in this book don’t completely meet this test—the blunder must have led to some reasonably ill outcome. You’re not going to find much in this book about the St. Louis Browns or the Boston Braves or other similarly woebegotten franchises, because their fortunes were far beyond the reach of just one move, good or bad. In fact, many of the blunders within were committed by good teams and good managers and good general managers. Their blunders are generally the ones that mattered.


Premeditation. Contemporary questionability. III effects. That’s the perfect blunder. And most of the blunders in this book are, to me at least, perfect. Occasionally I’ve fudged a bit on the last of those categories, but I think you’ll agree with me that, even if the Indians’ ten-cent Beer Night did no lasting damage, it was a pretty crummy idea.


Some might argue that it’s cruel of me to highlight the failures of my fellow men. After all, haven’t they suffered enough? Well, maybe they have. But 1) many of the men featured within these pages are no longer walking this earth, and 2) there’s nothing I’m going to write that hasn’t been written elsewhere, and with less compassion than I’ve got in my medium-sized heart.


And again, this book isn’t about mistakes. Every pitcher grooves the occasional slider, every hitter sometimes misses a hit-me fastball in the middle of the strike zone, and every umpire blows a big call every so often. But there’s only so much we can do with those. Yes, Luis Aparicio slipped as he rounded third base in a big game in 1972, and if he hadn’t slipped the Red Sox might have wound up in the World Series. Yes, the umpires blew any number of calls during the 2005 World Series, without which the Astros might at least have won a game or two.


But what are we supposed to do with those? I remember reading about an umpire who, when he got a call wrong and knew it, would tell the protesting manager, “Okay, so I missed that one. Now what do we do?”


We can use Luis Aparicio to illustrate a cautionary tale about taking special care when rounding third base, and we can use Don Denkinger to argue for the use of instant replay in important baseball games. But then what do we do? We can’t really hold Aparicio or Denkinger responsible for what happened—they weren’t trying to do what they did—and neither can we really learn much from what happened. All of which is my long-winded way of saying that this book isn’t about Luis Aparicio and Don Denkinger or any of the other thousands of players and umpires who have, at some key moment in baseball history, messed up. This book is, for the most part, about managers and general managers and owners who sat down, considered something for at least a moment, and said, “I sure think this would be a good idea.” Except it wasn’t.


A Note about Statistics


For better or worse, this book isn’t filled with sophisticated statistical methods. It’s not that I don’t care about such things. If you’ve read my work in other places, you know that I do. It’s just that I’ve found that blunt instruments do, for the most part, tell us most of what we want to know.


You will find, in these pages, a few statistical measures that you don’t see in your newspaper every day, but they’re nothing to get worked up about.


“ERA+” is simply the ratio of the league ERA to the pitcher’s ERA (adjusted for the pitcher’s home ballpark). An ERA+ of 100 is dead average. Anything above 100 is better than average, anything below 100 is worse than average, and yes it’s really that simple. My source for ERA+ (and many of the other statistics in this book) was www.baseball-reference.com. (My other primary source for statistics was www.retrosheet.org, which is only the greatest Web site in the history of the InterWeb.)


Win Shares are somewhat more complicated, but here’s what you need to know: Win Shares were invented by Bill James. Win Shares are published in Total Baseball and various other books and Web sites. Win Shares represent an effort to sum a player’s total value to his team, including hitting, pitching, fielding, and base-stealing. Three Win Shares equals one win (so a player with thirty Win Shares is worth three wins more than a player with twenty-one Win Shares). And why Win Shares? Because Win Shares are the best tool we’ve got for evaluating the long-term impact of trades, and trades occasionally will come up in the pages that follow.


Sometimes I’ll write that a player “batted .300”; that means his batting average was .300. Sometimes I’ll write that a player “batted .300/.400/.500”;those numbers are his batting average, his on-base percentage, and his slugging percentage.


And that’s about it. I told you, I’m not sophisticated.


A Note about Tables


I can’t help myself. I just love ’em. I wrote another book a few years ago, with a title similar to this one, that was essentially three hundred pages of tables. Nobody squawked, because the book wouldn’t have worked without tables. This one, though, would’ve been just fine without them, and if one hundred authors were asked to write a book like this one, ninety-five would make do without any tables (or with many fewer of them).


I like them, though, so I use them. Don’t be afraid. They’re just more words, except they look like numbers (or maybe the words are numbers, except they look like words; I can’t remember).


A Note About the Old Days


You’re not going to find much about them here. I tried. I really did. I asked all my friends to suggest long-ago blunders, and I even came up with a few candidates on my own.


In 1890, the players formed their own league. They called it the Players’ League. Most of the best players joined up, and I suspect one could make a fairly convincing argument that the National League in 1890, bereft of its stars, wasn’t really a “major” league at all. The Players’ League competed directly against the National League in seven cities, and attracted more fans in five of them. Both leagues lost a great deal of money, and after the season the Players’ League—especially the nonplayers who provided most of the financial backing—blinked first during negotiations with the National. The players would have to wait for another eighty-five years for some measure of justice.


Following the 1899 season, the National League contracted, shedding franchises in Baltimore, Louisville, Washington, and Cleveland. This came near the end of a period in which the magnates practiced something called “syndicate baseball,” whereby many owners had financial interests in more than one team. You can, I suspect, see the problem with such an arrangement, and in ’99 this was manifested in its illogical extreme, as the Cleveland Spiders won twenty games and lost 134.


Contraction helped foster the nascent American League, which opened play in 1900 with a team in Cleveland, and in 1901 shifted franchises to Baltimore and Washington. That began a sort of war between the leagues, which wound up costing everybody a lot of money. And the National League owners might have saved themselves the headache if they’d kept franchises in Washington and Cleveland, placed new franchises in Detroit and New York, and formed two six-team divisions. (Yes, I know this takes some imagination. Now you see why this doesn’t get its own chapter.)


In 1908, Fred Merkle neglected to touch second base in a big game late in the season. This was certainly a blunder—actually, at the time it was called a “boner”—but for the purposes of this book, it wasn’t a “blunder” because Merkle didn’t think about not touching second base. It was more or less an accepted practice, and he certainly didn’t consider the possible ramifications.*


On the last day of the 1910 season, the St. Louis Browns conspired to throw the American League batting title to Nap Lajoie, and away from Ty Cobb. The winner of the title had been promised a shiny new Chalmers “30” automobile, and just about everybody in the American League was pulling for Lajoie. Cobb, apparently with a safe lead in the race, decided to skip the Tigers’ last two games. To catch Cobb, Lajoie would need a hit in nearly every at-bat during a doubleheader against the Browns on the season’s final day. And thanks to the Browns, that’s what Lajoie did.


Browns manager Jack O’Connor told rookie third baseman Red Corriden to play deep when Lajoie batted. Real deep. Lajoie tripled in his first at-bat. In each of his next eight at-bats, though, Lajoie bunted toward third base, and was credited with seven hits and one fielder’s choice. (After the fielder’s choice, Browns coach Harry Howell sent a note to the official scorer, offering to buy the scorer a new suit if he would change his ruling.)


The results? They’re complicated. Lajoie went 8 for 9, but when the figures were computed, Cobb was still ahead by a single point, .385 to .384.†


In the end, though, Chalmers awarded automobiles to both players, O’Connor and Howell were both fired, and Ban Johnson “used his vast influence to ensure that neither man found a job with a team in Organized Baseball.”


So yes, there were some blunders there. There were others, I’m sure. Connie Mack’s decision to break up his pennant-winning A’s after the 1914 World Series certainly looks strange to us, today. But the first blunder that gets the full treatment in this book happened in 1917.


A Note About Our Sad Legacy


Segregation wasn’t a blunder.


From 1884 through 1945, every major league and perhaps every minor league in so-called “Organized Baseball” enforced a strict policy that excluded any man who might be considered a “Negro” (in the parlance of the time). And after 1945? For every team, from the Dodgers to the Red Sox, you’ll find a story about a team that could have signed Jackie Robinson—or Satchel Paige, or Willie Mays, or some other future Hall of Famer—but didn’t, because his skin wasn’t the right color.


That’s not a blunder. That’s a crime. I’ve left this crime out of the book because of its enormity, and because there’s a sameness to the stories. Yes, maybe the Red Sox had a clear look at Jackie Robinson but weren’t interested because they were racists. But what about the Athletics and the Yankees and the Browns and all the rest of the teams?


Yes, the Red Sox were particularly slow to integrate. And yes, this probably hurt their chances in the American League during the 1950s and early ’60s. The Yankees’ general lack of interest in black players probably started showing up on the field in the early ’60s, and thus was an instrument in their sudden decline. Serious books have been written about the failures of all the teams, and about the failures of specific teams, to integrate earlier and more effectively. All those books are worth reading, but I didn’t believe I could do the topic justice in this particular book.


A Final Word


Enjoy.


* For more on Merkle, you’ll have to wait for my next book: Rob Neyer’s Big Book of Baseball Boners (and yes, I’ll be self-publishing that one).


† In 1981, researchers discovered that Lajoie actually finished one point ahead of Cobb, but two of Cobb’s hits had been double-counted. Whether this was done purposefully, to redress the injustice of the season’s final day, we’ll probably never know.





SPRING 1917

WHITE SOX REPLACE HITTER WITH CROOK





Chick is a fighting ball player. He has no friends among the opposing players during a game, and his presence on first base will liven up our infield and keep the other boys battling all the time.


—Chicago Tribune, 1917





Let’s say you’ve got Justin Morneau playing first base for your team, but you’ve got a chance to replace him with Darin Erstad. Do you do it?


Wait, don’t answer.


Imagine that Erstad, instead of being the selfless, hustling ballplayer that Angels fans have grown to love so much, is a selfish bastard who will do just about anything for a few extra bucks.


Now do you do it?


Probably not. The Chicago White Sox did, though.


Jack Fournier debuted with the White Sox in 1912, when he was twenty-two. After struggling against major-league pitchers for a couple of seasons, Fournier broke through with a .311 batting average and a .443 slugging percentage that was sixth-best in the American League in 1914 (remember, this was the Dead Ball Era). The next year he slugged .491: higher than Cobb, higher than Joe Jackson, higher than Speaker... higher than everybody. He was twenty-five, and a slugging star.


Fournier slumped terribly in 1916, though. And after just one at-bat—a strikeout—in 1917, the White Sox shipped him to Los Angeles (then a Pacific Coast League town), having given his job at first base to a slick-fielding veteran named Charles Arnold “Chick” Gandil.


Fournier played well in Los Angeles, earning a month with the Yankees in 1918. There was some controversy over who owned the rights to Fournier, and in 1919 he returned to Los Angeles. A few years later, as Fournier was preparing to return to the majors with the Cardinals, The Sporting News noted, “Fournier failed to please with the White Sox or the Yankees in the American League. In Chicago they wanted him to live up to the Jiggs Donahue brand on first—and be an outfielder as well. He wasn’t considered ‘smart’ enough for the White Sox style. In New York they thought he should be a Hal Chase and a Tris Speaker combined.”1




Advance Scouting... Black Sox-Style


Regarding the Black Sox scandal, have you ever wondered what the hell utility infielder Fred McMullin, whose action was limited to two pinch-hitting appearances, did to earn his $5,000 share of the filthy lucre? You may recall that he became a conspirator only because he overheard Chick Gandil and Swede Risberg plotting indiscreetly, and demanded a piece of the action. Once involved, though, he was no mere passive participant. He worked hard at the corruption of the other players needed to assure a successful fix, particularly the all-important Eddie Cicotte. On the field, he singled meaninglessly late in Game 1. His other at-bat, in Game 2, actually meant something, though. The Sox were down only 4–2, with a runner on first and two outs. McMullin ended the game with a groundout. Still, it would seem he cut himself a pretty good deal.


There may have been more. Years ago, I read Warren Brown’s The Chicago White Sox and discovered that the Sox’s advance scout for the World Series was none other than Fred McMullin. And it makes sense: the full-time advance scout as we know him did not exist in 1919; why not send an unneeded veteran player? (A probably unanswerable question: did McMullin lobby for the job, or was it foisted upon him?)


Now, you might reasonably ask, so what? What difference did it make what kind of a scouting report McMullin returned with? Eight players had already decided to dump the Series, and that was that. But think for a moment. McMullin was a bit player whose very presence in the conspiracy was strictly an accident. The seven others—five regulars and the club’s top two starters—didn’t need his help to lose. How could he be sure to get his fair share of the booty? By contributing in every way possible.


What better way to cover yourself and your co-conspirators than to drag your honest teammates down with you? And how best to do that? Maybe by feeding them false information about what to expect from the Cincinnati pitchers. Is there any direct evidence that this happened? No. But a peek at the batting statistics for the Series makes you wonder, because there is no apparent disparity between Clean Sox and Black Sox hitting. Conspiracy leader Gandil batted .233; future Hall of Famer Eddie Collins .226. Risberg was a miserable .080; Nemo Leibold a pitiful .056. Shano Collins contributed an empty .250.


Ray Schalk was the only impressive Clean Sock, checking in at .308. But oddly, even he was topped by two Black Sox: Buck Weaver batted .324 and slugged .500, while Shoeless Joe Jackson (who may have saved his bumbling for the field) batted .375 and slugged .563. What unites Weaver and Jackson? Perhaps the fact that they would have known better than to listen to a Fred McMullin scouting report.—Mike Kopf





Were the White Sox smart to replace Fournier in the lineup with Gandil? Here are their Win Shares in each season from 1914—when Fournier was twenty-four, Gandil twenty-seven—through 1920:


[image: image]


Those italicized Win Shares for Fournier and Gandil are simply educated guesses at what they would have done, had they spent those seasons in the majors. Fournier’s are based mostly on what he actually did with the Los Angeles Angels. In 1917, he batted .305. In 1918, he batted .325 to finish third in the Pacific Coast League batting race and stole thirty-seven bases, then batted .350 in twenty-seven games with the Yankees. In 1919, back in Los Angeles, his .328 batting average was good for sixth in the PCL and he topped the loop with nineteen triples.


In 1920, Fournier joined the St. Louis Cardinals. He didn’t show any home-run power—that would come in ’21—but he did bat .306, and ranked in the top ten in the National League in both on-base and slugging average.


Gandil didn’t play in 1920. He’d have been thirty-three that season, and twelve Win Shares seems like a reasonable estimate of what he might have done. As it happened, that season’s actual White Sox first baseman (Shano Collins) did earn a dozen Win Shares. So either way, the Sox would have been better off with Fournier in 1918, in 1919, and in 1920.


I have, of course, been avoiding the 800-pound gorilla in the room.


In 1919, eight Chicago White Sox conspired to throw the World Series. Gandil was, by most accounts, the conspiracy’s ringleader.


In The Great Baseball Mystery: The 1919 World Series, author Victor Luhrs is about as kind as anybody could be, writing, “Jackson, Felsch, Weaver, and Cicotte did give their best efforts...”


Buck Weaver? Sure. That’s what everybody tells me. But those other three guys? As I said, Luhrs is exceptionally kind. But about Gandil he writes, “At no point did Gandil and [co-conspirator Swede] Risberg give their best efforts.”


Gandil made a small fortune, as did Eddie Cicotte. According to Warren Brown in The Chicago White Sox, shortly after the Series ended in Cincinnati’s favor, Gandil was seen “with a new automobile, diamonds, and other marks of sudden affluence.” He probably pocketed $10,000, though it might have been more.


That winter there were all sorts of whispers and half-hearted investigations, and perhaps Gandil, who wintered on the West Coast, figured he wouldn’t gain anything by coming back east in the following spring. Whether because he didn’t want to play or because the White Sox didn’t want him, Gandil stayed home. And after the scandal broke late in the ’20 season, he was officially banned for life from Organized Baseball.


Not many observers made the obvious connection between the White Sox letting Fournier get away and what happened in 1919. Fred Lieb did, though. In 1921 he wrote




Fournier isn’t the smartest player in the business, and throws have to come to him just so at first or he doesn’t get them. But the Canadian always is trying and hustling, and has a pretty good idea of his ability as a hitter.


Had Comiskey retained Fournier instead of engaging Gandil, the Old Roman might have been able to sidestep the great disgrace of his career, the scandal of 1919. Fournier likes to hit and win too well to have been mixed up in such a filthy mess.
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Jacques Fournier


Fournier wasn’t Canadian—he was born in Michigan and grew up on the Washington coast—but everything else here seems about right. (Fournier really did like to hit; prior to the 1917 season, The Sporting News reported that he’d “rigged up a batting device which he believes will put him in the .300 class next season.”)2


Perhaps it’s overly generous to simply assume that Fournier wouldn’t have been tempted by the big money the gamblers offered. It’s not that he was a bad guy. But a lot of non-bad guys in those days did not have serious qualms about throwing the occasional ballgame if the money was right.


Frankly, we can’t know that Fournier wouldn’t have been “mixed up in such a filthy mess.” But without Gandil, there probably wouldn’t have been a filthy mess. The details of the scandal remain murky, of course, but the general consensus is that Gandil conceived the conspiracy in the first place.


It’s certainly possible that if Gandil hadn’t been around, somebody else would have figured out a way to throw the World Series. But it’s incredibly unlikely. When the White Sox threw over Jack Fournier for Chick Gandil, they cost themselves a few games over the next few seasons because Fournier was much the superior hitter. But what they really lost was the World Series in 1919 and the American League pennant in 1920 (when the scandal broke on September 28, the Sox were only a half-game out of first place, but lost two of their last three games and finished two games behind Cleveland).


And beyond? Who knows. Aside from his outstanding 1915 performance, Fournier’s best seasons were 1921 through 1924. And if the scandal hadn’t resulted in the dismemberment of the roster... well, as I said, who knows? A lot of things would have been different.





DECEMBER 26, 1919

FRAZEE SELLS RUTH





Nineteen nineteen, their miserable greedy pig of a boss decides to sell Babe Ruth to the Yankees to finance a Broadway musical. And since 1919, the Red Sox have not won a World Series. And the Yankees have won twenty-six.


—Ben, in Fever Pitch (2005)





In the space of three years and two days—December 18, 1918, through December 20, 1921—the Red Sox made four significant deals with the Yankees, deals that essentially stocked a Yankees roster that would, beginning in 1921, win three straight American League pennants. We’ll save the biggest of the four deals until a little later...


July 29, 1919: Red Sox trade Carl Mays (79 Win Shares in the first three seasons following the trade) for Allan Russell (21), Bob McGraw (8), and $40,000.


Mays, one of the top pitchers in the American League, essentially forced a trade by leaving the club. On July 13, Mays suffered some tough breaks in the first two innings of a start in Chicago, and after being stranded on first base, he “stalked off into the clubhouse, showered, took a cab back to the hotel, gathered his belongings, and was on a train before the game ended.” Mays said he would never pitch another game for the Red Sox, and there was every indication that he meant it.1 Faced with the prospect of receiving absolutely nothing on the field from Mays, Red Sox owner Harry Frazee decided to make the best of the bad situation, and traded Mays to the Yankees.


There was, however, a problem. When Mays walked out, the American League suspended him indefinitely. And according to league rules, a team was prohibited from trading a suspended player (which makes a great deal of sense, as you don’t want players jumping to precipitate a trade). American League President Ban Johnson attempted to enforce the rule. The Red Sox and Yankees ignored him, and somehow they got away with it. (There would, however be ramifications.)


December 15, 1920: Red Sox trade Waite Hoyt (66), Wally Schang (46), Harry Harper (4), and Mike McNally (9) for Del Pratt (48), Muddy Ruel (43), Hank Thormahlen (4), and Sammy Vick (0).


This was a rough one for the Red Sox almost solely because right-hander Waite Hoyt became a star after joining the Yankees. At the time of the deal, Hoyt had just turned twenty-one, and in his action with the Sox he’d gone 10–12 with ERA’s higher than the league average. A few years earlier, when Hoyt was only eighteen, he’d pitched an inning for the Giants, but John McGraw was apparently unimpressed and returned him to the minors, no strings attached.


In Hoyt’s first season with the Yankees, he won nineteen games. Second season: nineteen. He won twenty-two games in 1927, twenty-three in ’28. Eventually Hoyt won 237 games and was (many years later) elected to the Hall of Fame (which was a mistake, but hey nobody’s perfect).


The deal didn’t work for the Red Sox because Hoyt became a star and “Lefty” Thormahlen became a bust. But Thormahlen, who was a couple of years older than Hoyt, could have become a star, too. In 1919, he’d gone 12–10 with a 2.62 ERA.


When this deal was made, most of the Boston writers figured it was, at worst, an equitable transaction, and one scribe opined, “it almost makes one think that Frazee is getting a conscience payment from the Yankee owners . . . all Boston fans must applaud the move.”


December 20, 1921: Red Sox trade Everett Scott (36), Bullet Joe Bush (73), and Sad Sam Jones (53) for Jack Quinn (55), Roger Peckinpaugh (53), Rip Collins (34), and Bill Piercy (17).


Sam Jones was a fine pitcher and would remain one after joining the Yankees. But spitballer Jack Quinn was just as fine, and would pitch (and pitch well) for another eleven seasons...even though he was thirty-eight when the Red Sox got him. Trading Bullet Joe Bush did hurt the Red Sox, though it’s worth mentioning that he had only a few more seasons of good pitching (after the ’24 season, the Yankees wisely included him in a trade to the Browns for Urban Shocker).


Taken together, if you’re going to fault the Red Sox for these trades, it can be based mostly on their failure to predict Waite Hoyt’s and Joe Bush’s futures (which, it should be said, might not have happened if they’d remained with the Red Sox). And those failures didn’t break the Red Sox. In 1922 and ’23 the Sox finished eighth; in ’24 they squeaked into seventh place by half a game. The three deals listed above a) were not all that bad when they were made, b) were not considered particularly uneven by contemporary observers, and c) did not, with the exception of Hoyt and Bush, look all that bad in the long run.


There is an obvious question that must be answered: “But why did the Red Sox trade so many players to the Yankees?” Certainly, it doesn’t look good. After the fact, some have concluded that the owners of the Red Sox and Yankees were conspiring to help the New Yorks and hurt the Bostons.


The answer is that Red Sox owner Harry Frazee didn’t have many choices. When the Mays trade blew up, Ban Johnson’s enmity toward Frazee only grew. The Yankees were on Frazee’s side in the ongoing battles against Johnson, as were the White Sox—which, by the way, impacted the Black Sox scandal, but that’s a story for another day—with the three teams becoming known as the Insurrectos. Meanwhile, the five other American League franchises backed Johnson, and would have as little to do with the rebels as possible. So Frazee traded with the Yankees because they would take his phone calls.


Now, the big one...


On December 26, 1919, Harry Frazee agreed to sell Babe Ruth to the Yankees. The terms were somewhat complicated: the Red Sox would receive $100,000: $25,000 in cash and three $25,000 notes, payable at one-year intervals, at six percent interest. (The owners of the Yankees also loaned Frazee $300,000, with Fenway Park serving as security.) The deal, the largest in baseball history, was contingent upon the Yankees signing Ruth to a new contract. Technically he already was under contract; prior to the 1919 season, Ruth signed a new contract that would pay him $30,000 over three years. But Ruth wanted more, and told the writers he wanted $20,000 for 1920 alone, or he might not play at all.


Rather than recite a list of Ruth’s offenses while a member of the Red Sox, I would like to reproduce two passages from the 1920 Reach Guide, because I think it goes a long way toward expressing not only editor Francis Richter’s feelings, but those of many who followed the game with professional interest...




NEW YORK’S JUDGMENT QUESTIONED


We question the judgment of the New York Club in buying another player who has no respect for his obligations, who is not a team player in any sense of the word, and who is a constant trouble-maker, according to Mr. Frazee’s confession; and that, too, at a price which is out of all reason. However, leaving the price out of consideration, where will the New York Club come out artistically? With Mays’ assistance the New York Club could finish no better than a scant third, while Boston, with Ruth, was lucky to finish fifth. By adding Ruth to its team, the New York simply gains another undesirable and uncontrollable player, adds enormously to its expense account and its salary roll, and gains absolutely nothing except the probability of boosting Ruth’s home-run record, which never did and never will win any pennants. This was proven by Boston’s experience last year, despite Ruth’s home-run record, and also by Detroit’s experience, which finished fourth in spite of having five .300 hitters on its team.


JUST A DESPERATE GAMBLE


However, the deal has been made and New York is now the owner of Ruth’s more or less remarkable services, and can proceed to capitalize Ruth for all of the publicity that can possibly be secured, and they will need it all, granting that Ruth will come up to expectations in every particular. If he doesn’t—and that is very likely to happen with a player of his disposition—the New York Club will sustain a big loss. Just what kind of player Ruth is has been revealed by the magnate who has just sold him. Mr. Frazee is reported as saying: “While Ruth, without question, is the greatest hitter that the game has ever seen, he is likewise one of the most selfish and inconsiderate men that ever wore a base ball uniform. Had he possessed the right disposition, had he been willing to take orders and work for the good of the club, like the other men on the team, I would never have dared let him go. Twice during the past two seasons Babe has jumped the club and revolted. He refused to obey orders of the manager.” That puts Ruth in a class with Mays, so far as respect for contract goes, and almost puts him by a class himself as an intractable player. The wonder is that the New York Club would take him on after knowing all this, assuming they did know it. We prefer to believe, however, that the New York Club is just taking one more desperate gamble on pennant honors and World’s Series pelf.





Think about it. Ruth had set a new record in 1919 with twenty-nine home runs. Could anybody have guessed, even wildly, that Ruth would nearly double that mark just one year later? Not the editors of the Spalding Guide: “Perhaps, and most likely, Ruth will not be so successful in 1920. The pitchers will eye him with more than ordinary caution and they will twist their fingers into knots to get more curve and still more curve on the ball. They will give one another private little tips.”2


Ruth was—and for that matter still is, nearly ninety years later—a singular phenomenon. Nobody had any idea what he might do, except everybody knew that he would do something spectacular, that he would be paid a great deal of money for doing it, and that he would frustrate his employers all the while.


[image: image]


Selling Ruth did not, of course, benefit the Red Sox either in the short or the long term. It certainly could have, though. Frazee could have put the cash he received from the Yankees to good use. Ruth could have drunk and eaten himself out of baseball, or he could have contracted a debilitating case of syphilis, or he could have rammed one of his cars into a ravine and broken every bone in his body.


The Babe led a charmed life, though. He remained relatively healthy and incredibly productive for another fifteen years after the Red Sox sold him.


And finally, a few words about the demonization of Harry Frazee. It’s often been written that Frazee sold Ruth in order to finance a Broadway production of a silly musical called No, No, Nanette. It’s often been written that Frazee was a failure not only in baseball but also in his theatrical pursuits, and that he died in 1929 a poor man.


As Glenn Stout has ably demonstrated in various places—including in a long 2005 essay in Elysian Fields Quarterly—none of those things written about Frazee are true. Frazee was not in financial trouble when he traded Ruth. He simply thought the Yankees were offering a fair price for a player who’d become a huge headache. Frazee did not use the Yankees’ money to finance No, No, Nanette, which wasn’t put into production until 1925. Frazee did not die penniless. When Frazee died in 1929, the New York Times did report that he was nearly broke... but a few days later the Times issued a correction (which nobody noticed, of course), and eventually the value of his estate was reported as approximately $1.3 million.


Stout argues that much of the demonization of Frazee was fostered by baseball writer Fred Lieb, an anti-Semite who believed Frazee was Jewish (he wasn’t). But whatever the reason for the misconceptions, unless you’ve read Stout, what you’ve read about Harry Frazee is mostly wrong.





OCTOBER 15, 1925

BIG TRAIN RUNS OUT OF STEAM





In a grave of mud was buried Walter Johnson’s ambition to join the select panel of pitchers who have won three victories in one World Series. With mud shackling his ankles and water running down his neck, the grand old man of baseball succumbed to weariness, a sore leg, wretched support and the most miserable weather conditions that ever confronted a pitcher.


—James B. Harrison, The New York Times (1925)





In 1924, it finally happened. In Walter Johnson’s eighteenth season with the Washington Senators,* the club finally reached the World Series. And though Johnson lost Games 1 and 5 to the Giants, he earned a victory in Game 7 with four scoreless relief innings as the Nats won in the bottom of the twelfth.


Johnson waited eighteen years for his first World Series, but would have to wait just one more year for his second.


In the ’24 Series, Johnson lost twice before winning Game 7. In the ’25 Series, Johnson would win twice before losing Game 7.


In the opener, Johnson gave up just one run while racking up ten strikeouts. Afterward, Babe Ruth (or, rather, Babe Ruth’s ghostwriter) wrote, “I have watched Walter Johnson pitch a lot of ball games, but I don’t believe I ever saw him when he was better than he was yesterday.”


Johnson wasn’t as overpowering in Game 4, striking out only two Pirates, but pitched a 4–0 shutout anyway. While running the bases in the third inning, Johnson aggravated an old leg injury. Trainer Mike Martin advised Johnson to retire from the game, but instead Johnson soldiered on after Martin wrapped the leg. (A couple of days later, on the train from Washington to Pittsburgh, Johnson reportedly suffered from a bad cold.)


Stan Coveleski started Game 5 for the Senators, and pitched well before getting knocked out (and losing) in the seventh inning. There was no scheduled day off between Game 5 in Washington and Game 6 in Pittsburgh. Alex Ferguson—who’d racked up a 6.18 ERA during the regular season—started Game 6, and like Coveleski he lost despite pitching reasonably well.


No team had ever been down three-one in a best-of-seven World Series and come back to win, but the Pirates were now threatening to do just that.


It had generally been expected that Johnson would pitch Game 7, if necessary. On October 12, the day after his Game 4 victory, Johnson said, “I didn’t do any workout today outside of picking up a bat once in a while around the dugout, but I doubt that my sore leg will interfere if I have to go in. It’s not so good today, but I think it will be all right.”


Game 7 was scheduled for the 14th, but heavy rains caused postponement. As Lee Allen later wrote, “It rained hard all day when the seventh game should have been played, and Washington fans, hearing of the postponement, were deliriously happy with the news; for it meant that Walter Johnson, on whom all hopes were now pinned, would have a third day of blessed rest.”


The field was still soaked on the 15th, but Johnson would get no more rest. Game 7 would be played.


The Senators made quick work of Pirates starter Vic Aldridge—working on only two days rest—who struggled terribly with the soggy pitcher’s mound. Aldridge faced six hitters, walked three of them, uncorked two wild pitches, and was yanked with the bases loaded. Before reliever Johnny Morrison was able to stop the bleeding, the Senators had a 4–0 lead that must have seemed safe as houses.


Johnson batted in that inning, and it was obvious that his sore leg was bothering him. As The Washington Post noted in its pitch-by-pitch account, “Johnson bunted right down the first base line on the first pitch. Morrison waited for the ball to roll foul. It was apparent that the Washington pitcher could run with difficulty.”


Then in the bottom of the first, “The Pittsburgh team started a bunting campaign, an easily understood move with a crippled man in the box.”


The crippled man shut down the Pirates in the first two innings, but they scored three runs in the third. The Nats scored two of their own in the fourth to forge a 6–3 lead.


In the bottom of the fifth the skies opened—literally and figuratively—as the first two Pirates doubled to plate a run. Johnson recovered, though, dispatching the next three Bucs with relative ease. And heading to the bottom of the seventh—the rain falling harder now—the Senators still owned a 6–4 lead. Second baseman Eddie Moore led off with a pop fly to short left field, which was muffed by shortstop Roger Peckinpaugh—already named American League MVP—for his seventh error of the Series. Max Carey followed with an RBI double, and two batters (and outs) later, Carey scored on Pie Traynor’s triple. The inning ended when Traynor was thrown out trying for an inside-the-park homer, but now the game was tied.


With one out in the top of the eighth, Peckinpaugh homered to put the Senators back ahead by one run.


Walter Johnson took the mound in the bottom of the eighth, got two quick outs, and was one strike away from retiring Pirates catcher Earl Smith. But Smith doubled. Next,




Carson Bigbee... hit an ordinary fly ball to right field that would have been an out any other day. This day it sailed through the gloom unseen and over Rice’s head for another double, tying the game once again. Moore walked—Johnson’s first free pass, surprisingly. Carey hit a routine grounder to short, and Peckinpaugh, instead of going to first for the easy out, played for the force at second. But Bucky Harris, positioned toward first for the left-handed-hitting Carey, had no chance to reach the base in time. In addition, Peckinpaugh’s throw was high and only a great leaping grab by Harris kept it from going over his head into right field. It was Peckinpaugh’s eighth error of the Series, and the most costly.1





Costly because Kiki Cuyler followed with a ground-rule double, scoring Bigbee and Moore with Pittsburgh’s eighth and ninth runs of the game. Johnson retired the next batter to finally escape the inning.


In the top of the ninth, Red Oldham—no star, and the fourth Pirates pitcher of the game—retired the Nats in order, and Pittsburgh’s unlikely comeback was complete.


The media in those days certainly wasn’t as inquisitive as it would become, but Johnson’s struggles in the seventh and eighth innings led to a great deal of second-guessing.


Bucky Harris supposedly replied, “I have no apologies or alibis. I went down with my best.” A Dallas columnist wrote, “I believe Harris left Johnson in there because he had no one else who could pitch better than Big Barney.” Catcher Muddy Ruel opined, a couple of years later, “I contend that Bucky was right in his judgement. We had confidence in Barney and I feel that if any Nationals pitcher could have come through with a victory, Johnson was the man.”2


Maybe. But I really, really, really doubt it. There’s no way of knowing how much Johnson’s leg was hurting him; you can find sources saying the injury wasn’t a factor at all, and you can find sources saying Johnson was in terrible pain for nine innings. But considering all the evidence we’ve got, it’s not at all far-fetched to guess that he was in less than perfect condition.


[image: image]


Bucky Harris




Letting Them Play


On October 14, with Pittsburgh’s Forbes Field a sodden mess, Commissioner Kenesaw Mountain Landis postponed Game 7 of the 1925 World Series, and Washington Senators president Clark Griffith expressed relief. “World’s Series games should be played on merit alone,” he said, “and it would not have been a fair test of skill to have the two teams wallowing around in the mud.”


So instead they wallowed around in the mud on October 15.


In the 1926 Spalding’s Official Base Ball Guide, John B. Foster wrote of Game 7, “The field conditions were bad before the game began. To add to that, another drenching rain that fell all afternoon made the playing surface of Forbes Field a quagmire, and for the second time in succession saturated spectators with more water than most of them had encountered in years without protection against it... With outfielders invisible from the stands, rain pouring steadily, the field thick with mud like mortar, and the corners of the field blocked from the vision of those in the press box and in the center of the grand stand, the final inning was keenly fought as if the contestants were laboring under an invigorating June sun.”


In The Washington Senators, Shirley Povich wrote, “Never had a ball game been ordered to proceed under such circumstances.”


In The Pittsburgh Pirates, Fred Lieb wrote, “By the fifth inning a dark mist hung over the field, and the outfielders looked like ghoulish figures in the general gloom.”


Nationals outfielder Goose Goslin would recall, roughly forty years later, “Oh, that was ridiculous. That seventh game of the 1925 World Series was played in a terrific rainstorm. I’m not kidding, it was pouring like mad from the third inning on, and by the seventh inning the fog was so thick I could just about make out what was going on in the infield from out there in the outfield.


“In the bottom of the eighth we were still ahead, 7–6, when Kiki Cuyler hit a ball down the right-field line that they called fair, and that won the game for Pittsburgh. It wasn’t fair at all. It was foul by two feet. I know because the ball hit in the mud and stuck there. The umpires couldn’t see it. It was too dark and foggy.”8


I’ve bothered with all these accounts because a general idea of the conditions throughout the day is necessary if we’re going to critique Commissioner Landis’s decision to play through it all.


Many observers thought that the game should not have started at all. Others thought it should have been stopped after the fifth or sixth, with the Senators ahead by two runs; had that happened, the game would have been “official” and Washington would have been world champs. Others thought it should have been stopped in the seventh or eighth; had that happened, the game would have been declared a tie, with a Game 8 scheduled for the next dry afternoon.


The decision to begin Game 7 rested with Commissioner Kenesaw Mountain Landis, and it’s a decision that must have weighed on him heavily.


The Series had already been delayed by a day, and the weather forecast—granted, meteorology was far from an exact science in those days—was far from encouraging: cold and wet for the foreseeable future.


So Landis let the game begin. And once it began, Landis was determined to see nine innings.


In fairness to Bucky Harris and Walter Johnson, it should be noted that the Senators were exceptionally unlucky in Game 7.


Perhaps it was just sour grapes, but everybody on the Washington side was absolutely convinced that 1) Max Carey’s pop double in the seventh actually was foul by at least foot, and 2) Johnson should, by all rights, have struck out Kiki Cuyler with the bases loaded in the eighth.


But Carey’s “double” led to a couple of runs, and after Cuyler got his reprieve, he too struck a two-run double, this one giving the Pirates the 9–7 lead with which they would finish.


There were also Peckinpaugh’s two errors and a couple of cheap Pittsburgh hits. Like most managers who are remembered for screwing up, Harris could have met a happier end with just a touch more luck. But then, that’s why you don’t screw up; if your margin for error is too small, everybody remembers.





And then there were the conditions. It was raining from the fifth inning on, so Johnson’s wool uniform would have been soggy, even heavier than usual. And considering the muddy mound, he’d likely have been throwing with an unnatural motion. Meanwhile, Pirates manager Bill McKechnie employed four pitchers, none for more than four innings.


Did Harris have anybody else who could have pitched? You bet.


♦ Stan Coveleski won twenty games that season; in fact, his record (20-5) and his ERA (2.84) were both better than Johnson’s. He’d pitched decently in two Series starts, and had a couple of days to rest since the last one. He did have a sore back, though, at least according to one source.3


♦ Dutch Ruether won eighteen games during the regular season, but was shaky in September and hadn’t pitched in the World Series at all.


♦ Tom Zachary pitched 218 innings for the Senators in ’25, with a solid 3.85 ERA. He’d pitched only once during the Series, a couple of innings in Game 5, three days earlier.


Why had left-handers Ruether and Zachary pitched so little? During the World Series, Washington shortstop Roger Peckinpaugh (or his ghostwriter) wrote in the newspapers, “For some reason or other, Bucky is depending mostly upon his right-handers. I know that the McKechnie crew is said to dote on southpaw flinging...”4


Southpaws or not, though, either Ruether or Zachary would have been a good choice to start the eighth. Both were starters, of course, but in those days starters were routinely used as relievers, and anyway managers just didn’t use good pitchers purely as relievers.


Except Bucky Harris. In 1924, Harris occasionally used a big flamethrower named Fred “Firpo” Marberry as a starter, but Marberry more often worked out of the bullpen. He led the American League with fifteen saves (figured many years later), and in the World Series he played a key role in each of Washington’s three victories over the Giants. In 1925, Marberry worked exclusively out of the bullpen—it was the only season in his career in which he didn’t start at least once—and again saved fifteen games, while also winning nine and posting a 3.47 ERA.


But Marberry hardly pitched in the ’25 Series. In Game 3 he pitched two scoreless innings to preserve a 4–3 lead, and in Game 5 he faced two batters, giving up an RBI single and a fly-out. According to Marberry’s entry in Baseball: The Biographical Encyclopedia, “Harris was widely criticized for underutilizing Marberry” in the World Series.


Perhaps. But Marberry wasn’t right. On the eve of Game 7, the Washington Post’s Frank H. Young reported the following:




Fred Marberry reported to Forbes field this afternoon with his salary wing sorer than ever. The big pitcher has restrained the elbow first hurt in the Chicago series, on the Nats’ final swing through the Western sector, and can not bend it properly. Mike Martin is working strenuously on the arm and hopes—but is not particularly optimistic—that he will have “Firpo” somewhere near ready for tomorrow in case he is needed.5





So Harris had the best reliever in the game, but he probably was not available. That’s no excuse for not going to Coveleski or Ruether or Zachary, though. The Senators caught a lot of bad breaks in Game 7 (see sidebar), but it simply wasn’t reasonable to expect an old and injured Johnson to pitch a complete game after all that he’d already done. Nevertheless, he threw 130 pitches6 and gave up fifteen hits and nine runs. In the clubhouse after the game, Pirates manager McKechnie said, “Johnson didn’t seem to have much stuff out there today and the boys continued their clouting.”


President Ban Johnson of the American League sent Bucky Harris a telegram that read, “You put up a game fight. This I admire. Lost the series for sentimental reasons. This should never occur in a World Series.”7 And it shouldn’t.


[image: image]


Walter Johnson, showing his years.


Three years earlier, in the ’22 Series, Game 2 was tied 3–3 after ten innings when the umpires declared the game a tie on account of darkness... even though it was only 4:46 P.M. and there was roughly forty-five minutes of daylight remaining. It was the umpires’ decision but Landis took the heat, and he acted quickly to defuse criticism; shortly after the game, he announced that “the entire receipts of to-day’s game shall be turned over to the funds for the benefit of disabled soldiers and to the charities of New York.” Just like that, he’d given away $120,000 of the owners’ money. And the fans loved him for it.


The owners weren’t nearly so thrilled, and there’s little doubt that Landis wanted to avoid another choice between public-relations nightmare and angering his paymasters. According to Landis biographer David Pietrusza, “Landis, fearing a repeat of 1922, refused to allow a rainout... Landis saw to it that, come hell or high water (particularly high water), play would continue.”9


The Sporting News opined, “Understandably the distinguished commissioner was urged on all sides to play and ‘get it over’ and these words are not intended as adverse criticism, yet realizing the importance of the games and how they interested persons throughout the length and breadth of the land, it is a pity that the concluding contest was not played on a dry field and under more ideal weather conditions.”10


A pity, indeed. And if The Sporting News was criticizing the most powerful man in the game, you know they had a pretty good case.


* The franchise had officially been renamed “Nationals” in 1905, but most fans never stopped calling them “Senators,” though newspaper headline writers appreciated the abbreviation, “Nats.”





OCTOBER 10, 1926

RUTH WALKS, THEN RUNS





My biggest thrill in baseball was making a simple tag on a runner trying to steal second base. The play was the biggest surprise of my career, and I’d have to say the biggest break any of my teams ever got. It also goes to prove that the World Series is not won—it’s lost. The guy I tagged out—and by a mile, too—was Babe Ruth.


—Rogers Hornsby





The most famous play in the 1926 World Series came in the seventh game, when Grover Cleveland Alexander trotted to the mound, with the bases loaded, and struck out Tony Lazzeri to preserve the Cardinals’ 3–2 lead.


Some people think Alexander was seriously hungover, if not actually drunk. Some think he was just old and tired (he was thirty-nine, and twenty-four hours earlier he’d gone the distance to win Game 6). I lean heavily toward the latter opinion, but a serious appraisal will have to wait for another book. Some also think that Alexander’s strikeout of Lazzeri ended the game and thus the Series. It didn’t. That was just the bottom of the seventh. With the Cardinals leading by just one run, Alexander’s work was just getting started.


In the eighth, Alexander breezed through the bottom of the order (oddly, Yankees pitcher Herb Pennock was allowed to bat for himself, but baseball was different then). In the ninth, with the score still 3–2, Alexander retired Earle Combs and Mark Koenig on grounders to third baseman Les Bell.


The Yankees weren’t quite done yet. Next up was Babe Ruth, who’d already set World Series records with four home runs and ten walks. As Bell later recalled, “It would be nice to say that Alec struck him out to end it, and he nearly did. He nearly did. He took Babe to a full count and then lost him on a low outside pitch that wasn’t off by more than an eyelash.” By one account, Ruth paused before trotting to first base; by another, Alexander started to walk off the mound, thinking he’d struck Ruth out. Nevertheless, Ruth took his base as the potential tying runner.


Maybe manager Miller Huggins should have sent in a pinch-runner. The Babe wasn’t as fat and gimpy as he would later become, but he was thirty-one and certainly not in the trimmest of condition. Then again, do you really want to tie the game, then head into extra innings without the best baseball player on earth? Me neither. So if the Yankees tied the game, it would be Ruth doing the tying.


And next up? Not Lou Gehrig (as many people think). Gehrig didn’t move into the No. 4 slot in the lineup until 1927. In ’26 the Yankees’ cleanup hitter was still Long Bob Meusel. He’d missed a chunk of the season with a broken foot, but in 1925—with Ruth missing much of that season—Meusel had led the American League with thirty-three home runs, and in ’26 his .470 slugging percentage was more than respectable. In four plate appearances against Alexander in Game 6, he’d walked, doubled, and tripled (though it should be noted that the double was a Texas Leaguer and the triple was a grounder past third base). And if Meusel somehow reached base? Gehrig, who’d led the American League with eighty-three extra-base hits, lurked on deck. And of course Ruth would be in scoring position.


In Yankees Century, Glenn Stout wrote, “Ruth, on first, had made a career of careening between incredible and incorrigible. He now added the inexplicable to his resume.”1


Alexander later recalled what happened next:




If Meusel got hold of one it could mean two runs and the series, so I forgot all about Ruth and got ready to work on Meusel. I’ll never know why the guy did it but on my first pitch to Meusel, the Babe broke for second. He (or Miller Huggins) probably figured that it would catch us by surprise. I caught the blur of Ruth starting for second as I pitched and then came the whistle of the ball as O’Farrell rifled it to second. I wheeled around and there was one of the grandest sights of my life. Hornsby, his foot anchored on the bag and his gloved hand outstretched was waiting for Ruth to come in. There was the series and my second big thrill of the day. The third came when Judge Landis mailed out the winners’ checks for $5,584.51.2





Hornsby: “I’ll always remember putting the ball on him. He didn’t say a word. He didn’t even look around or up at me. He just picked himself off the ground and walked away to the dugout and I had lived through the greatest day any man could ask.”3


Ed Barrow, who’d built the Yankees into a powerhouse since taking over as business manager in 1920, later said, “That’s the only dumb play I ever saw Ruth make. With Meusel and Gehrig following him in our batting order, anything still could have happened.”4


Obviously, Ruth’s decision—and there’s never been any indication that Huggins had anything to do with it—didn’t work out. But did it make sense?




Darby O’Brien’s III Luck


To this day, the Babe remains the only player who’s ended a World Series with a caught stealing.


Sort of. We tend to dismiss 19th-century baseball as if it didn’t really exist, but there were postseason series pitting the champions of the top leagues—the National League and the inferior American Association—against each other, and the term “World Series” (among others) was even used.


The next-to-last of these N.L.-vs.-A.A. affairs was played in 1889, and featured the New York Giants and the Brooklyn Bridegrooms in a best-of-eleven series. That’s just too many games, and only 3,647 paying customers were in the ballpark for the ninth and final game, which ended when Brooklyn’s Darby O’Brien tried to steal second base with two outs in the top of the ninth inning. Buck Ewing, renowned as perhaps the finest-fielding catcher of his era, gunned down O’Brien with a throw to second baseman Danny Richardson.


It wasn’t a bad idea, though. Stolen bases were a huge part of the game in those days; in the nine games, the Giants and Bridegrooms combined for fifty-two steals. This one just didn’t work out.





We’ve got caught-stealing data beginning in 1920; from that season through the end of the ’26 season, Ruth stole seventy-two times and was caught seventy-nine times. That’s a forty-eight percent success rate, which obviously isn’t real good. In ’26, Ruth stole eleven bases and was thrown out nine times (in the World Series, he owned the Yankees’ only steal, and it came in Game 6 with Alexander on the mound). This wasn’t a typical steal attempt, though. Not only was the situation exceptional, but there’s evidence suggesting that Ruth wasn’t trying to steal on Alexander, but rather on Cardinals catcher Bob O’Farrell. According to John B. Foster in Spalding’s Official Base Ball Guide, Ruth tried to “catch O’Farrell napping,” and other sources support the notion that it was a delayed steal attempt. But if there’s one thing about which everyone agrees, it’s that the play wasn’t close.


Robert Creamer, one of Ruth’s biographers, wrote,




Ruth’s decision to steal was discussed for years. It was generally considered a bad play, a dumb play, but some baseball men defended it. There were two outs, not much chance left to develop a rally. A man on second base could score on a single, and the way Alexander was pitching, a single was about all you could hope for. A successful steal at such a startling moment might upset the pitcher, even the veteran Alexander.


But it did not work, and despite his four home runs, a new World Series record, Babe was considered a bit of a goat. He didn’t seem to mind. It was a hell of a try, he thought. Strikeouts never embarrassed him, and neither did this.5





Ruth himself put things a bit more prosaically: “I wasn’t doing any fucking good on first base.”6





NOVEMBER 27, 1927 AND APRIL 1, 1928

BUCS SEND OFF HALL OF FAMERS





The deal for Cuyler brings an end to varied and sundry trade rumors, in which the outfielder was the central figure. A reported run-in with Manager Bush during the season, opened the difficulty which banished Cuyler from active service with the Pirates...


When he failed to break into the World’s Series against the Yankees, there was considerable criticism from the fans, but Bush held fast to his disciplinary measures and when a pinch-hitter was needed, it was not Cuyler who was called into play.


—Irving Vaughan, The Sporting News





When the Pirates traded Hazen “Kiki” Cuyler (by the way, that’s pronounced ky-ky, not kee-kee) for two nobodies* it was not, as they say, a “baseball deal.” This was something else, the sort of deal you don’t want to make but feel like you have to.


In the mid 1920s, Cuyler was a big star. In 1925, his greatest season, Cuyler batted .357 with eighteen home runs, drove in 102 runs, and led the National League with 144 runs scored. In the World Series that fall, he drove in six runs as the Pirates beat the Senators in seven games. Cuyler’s power dropped off quite a bit in 1926, but again he led his league in scoring.


Big star.


In 1927, with the Pirates fighting for the pennant, Cuyler got benched. Permanently.


The way the story goes, the Pirates were in first place, but sort of scuffling a bit, in the middle of the season. Rookie manager Donie Bush decided to shake up the lineup, shifting Cuyler from his accustomed third slot to second.


Cuyler was not a bad guy. When he died in 1950, his obituary in The Sporting News included this: “A model on and off the field—he didn’t drink or smoke—Cuyler had only one flaw that kept him from being rated with the leading immortals of the game. He lacked the ruthlessness that might have carried him to great heights and made his record even more brilliant.”1


Here’s Cuyler’s side of things:




During that season, Bush seemed to dislike me for no reason in the world. He ordered me to bat second, instead of third, in the lineup. I said to Bush, “You’re the manager and I’ll hit any place you say, but I’m not adapted to second place. I am a free swinger and take a long cut at the ball and, therefore, miss a lot of swings. Neither can I place a hit as a man in that position should be able to do.” Well, that didn’t do any good. Bush told me to bat second just the same.


Soon after, I was on first and the batter grounded to the infield. Instead of sliding into second base, I went in standing up so that I could interfere with the second baseman and prevent a double play. It happened that on this particular play the second baseman dropped the ball and, if I had slid, I would have been safe.


Because I failed to slide, Bush fined me $50 and benched me. Stories in the newspapers magnified the situation and Bush refused to put me back in the lineup. We won the pennant, but I was left on the bench to watch the Pirates lose four straight games to the Yankees without getting a chance to help stop the massacre.2







Kansas City Here I Come...


On April 1, 1928, just a few months after trading Cuyler for so little, the Pirates sold a young shortstop named Joe Cronin to the Kansas City Blues. And a few months later, Kansas City—an independent club in the American Association—sold Cronin to the Washington Senators for $7,500.


Cronin signed up with the Pirates in 1925, when he was eighteen. In ’26, he spent half the season with the big club, and half in the Eastern League (where he batted .320 with New Haven). Oddly, he spent the entire 1927 campaign with the Pirates—he even was on the World Series roster—but got into only twelve games all season. And the next spring he was gone.


By unloading Cuyler and Cronin within six months, the Pirates transferred a great deal of talent to other teams and received relatively little in return. Did the loss of both players cost them any pennants? Perhaps one.


In 1932, one of the Pirates’ outfield slots was manned by Adam Comorosky, who played 108 games and earned eleven Win Shares. Shortstop was held by rookie Arky Vaughan, who—beginning a Hall of Fame career—picked up twenty-one Win Shares.


Meanwhile, with their new teams, Cuyler (Cubs) earned fifteen Win Shares in 110 games and Cronin (Senators) was brilliant for a third straight season, earning thirty-one Win Shares. So that’s thirty-two Win Shares for the two now-Pirates, and forty-six Win Shares for the ex-Pirates. Roughly speaking, that’s a five-win edge for the ex-Pirates. Pittsburgh finished four games behind the first-place Cubs (who, by the way, would themselves have been without the services of Cuyler). There’s no telling exactly how the math would have worked out in real life, of course. But it would have been one hell of a pennant race. And if the Pirates had finished on top, Babe Ruth never would have not Called his Shot.
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